
PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR SESSION AGENDA
Monday, October 28, 2019 - 7:00 PM

City Hall, Council Chambers, 169 SW Coast Hwy, Newport , OR 97365

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for
the DEAF AND HARD OF HEARING, or for other accommodations for persons with
disabilities, should be made at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting to Peggy Hawker, City
Recorder at 541.574.0613.

The agenda may be amended during the meeting to add or delete items, change the order of
agenda items, or discuss any other business deemed necessary at the time of the meeting.

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

2.A Approval of  the Planning Commission Regular Session Meeting Minutes of
October 14, 2019.
Draft PC Regular Session Minutes 10-14-19

3. CITIZENS/PUBLIC COMMENT
A Public Comment Roster is available immediately inside the Council Chambers.  Anyone
who would like to address the Planning Commission on any matter not on the agenda will
be given the opportunity after signing the Roster.  Each speaker should limit comments
to three minutes.  The normal disposition of these items will be at the next scheduled
Planning Commission meeting. 

4. ACTION ITEMS

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/457338/Draft_PC_Minutes_10-14-19.pdf


4.A Final Order and Findings for File 8-NCU-19: Surfside Mobile Village
Replacement of  a Manufactured Home with Two Park Models.
Final Order and Findings

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS

5.A File 6-CUP-19 (Cont inued): Condit ional Use Permit  to Remodel and Expand
the Exist ing Oregon Coast Aquarium.
Final Order and Findings
Attachment L

6. NEW BUSINESS

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

8. DIRECTOR COMMENTS

9. ADJOURNMENT

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/457610/File_8-NCU-19.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/457767/6-CUP-19_Final_Order_and_Findings.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/457768/6-CUP-19_Attachment_L.pdf


Page 1    Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – 10/14/19. 
 

Draft MINUTES 

City of Newport Planning Commission 

Regular Session 

Newport City Hall Council Chambers 

October 14, 2019 

 

Planning Commissioners Present: Gary East, Lee Hardy, Bob Berman, Jim Hanselman, Bill Branigan, 

and Jim Patrick. 

 

Planning Commissioners Absent: Mike Franklin (excused) 

 

City Staff Present: Community Development Director (CDD), Derrick Tokos; and Executive Assistant, 

Sherri Marineau. 

 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call.  Chair Patrick called the meeting to order in the City Hall Council 

Chambers at 7:00 p.m. On roll call, Commissioners East, Hardy, Berman, Hanselman, Branigan, and 

Patrick were present. 

 

2. Approval of Minutes.   
 

A. Approval of the Planning Commission Work and Regular Session Meeting Minutes of September 

23, 2019. 

 

Commissioner Berman noted minor corrections to the minutes.  

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Berman, seconded by Commissioner Hardy to approve the Planning 

Commission work and regular session meeting minutes of September 23, 2019 with minor corrections. The 

motion carried unanimously in a voice vote. 

 

3. Citizen/Public Comment.  None were heard. 

 

4. Action Items.  None were heard. 

 
5. Public Hearings.  At 7:01 p.m. Chair Patrick opened the public hearing portion of the meeting.  

 

Chair Patrick read the statement of rights and relevance. He asked the Commissioners for declarations of 

conflicts of interest, ex parte contacts, bias, or site visits. Commissioner Branigan reported a site visit at the 

Oregon Coast Aquarium. Patrick called for objections to any member of the Planning Commission or the 

Commission as a whole hearing this matter; and none were heard. 

 

A. File 6-CUP-19.  
 

Tokos reviewed the staff report. He reported that the Aquarium was required to go through a conditional 

use process because the land use rules were different now from when the Aquarium was built in 1990. 

Tokos reviewed the locations where pedestrian improvements could be done as part of the requirements for 

approval. He reported the concerns the Fire Department had for ease of access of for their equipment, and 

noted where they wanted to see improvements done. Tokos explained that the legal public notice wasn’t 

published by the newspaper, but a notice had been mailed out. He recommended the Commission continue 

the hearing for two weeks and take action at that time. 

 

Patrick asked if only the parts of the Aquarium that was zoned C-2 were required to have a conditional use. 

Tokos reported the bulk of the improvements were for marine research. A conditional use was needed for 

this in the C-2 zone, and was also required for an entertainment use in the W-2 zone. Branigan asked if the 

Aquarium would need conditional use approval for the areas they owned. Tokos said this condition use 

covered all areas. 

3



Page 2    Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – 10/14/19. 
 

 

Berman asked if there had been any discussion about tsunami evacuation and signage. Tokos explained it 

had not been a part of the conditional use application discussion. Branigan asked for Fire Chief, Rob 

Murphy to speak on the improvements the Fire Department wanted the Aquarium to do. Murphy addressed 

the Commission and reported that they looked back at their files when the Aquarium was built and found 

that there had been discussions with the Fire Marshall and developers about access, but not much on 

findings and decisions. The only decision was to accept the width of the bridge from the drive to the main 

entrance. Murphy reported that the Fire Department had currently done a site visit and had concerns on 

access to the East side of the facility on the north end. Because the facility was a preexisting nonconforming, 

the Fire Department wanted to bring attention to this area and work with the Aquarium plans to get better 

access. Murphy pointed out the areas by the Passages of the Deep exhibit on the map where they wanted 

better access points, and reviewed the improvements the Fire Department thought they could do. He noted 

a second are at the north access that wouldn't allow a fire engine to get within 100 feet of the building. The 

Fire Department wanted to see better access at this point. Branigan asked if there needed to be 

improvements on 29th Street where the wooden doors were located. Murphy explained this was the area 

where the Aquarium needed to look at the turning radius for fire engines.  

 

Hanselman asked if the pathway allowed vehicles to pass each other. Murphy thought it was tight and 

probably wouldn't. He guessed it was 14 feet wide. Berman asked if what Murphy was saying was that he 

was backing off on what his memo said to extend the road all the way to meet up with the other path. 

Murphy explained ideally he wanted this, but noted this was a starting point and he was open to some 

negotiations. Hanselman had concerns about how people would be moved out of the facility in a large event. 

He wanted to push for more in the way of access. Murphy noted the facility had many different access 

points for people to exit, and had a sprinkler system.  Branigan reported the Aquarium had an extensive 

staff who could respond to emergencies. A discussion ensued regarding access for ambulances and fire 

trucks at the Aquarium.  

 

Berman asked for more information on the gate Murphy wanted to have added. Murphy showed where the 

gate would be located and explained that the gate was not for public access but for emergency access. East 

thought this change should be easy because most of the area would be changed for a playground area. 

 

Proponents: Carrie Lewis, with the Newport Oregon Coast Aquarium, and Steve Dangermond, architect 

for the project, addressed the Commission. Dangermond said they studied the Fire Department access 

comments. He explained that the updates to the path along the estuary would be very difficult for a fire 

truck to use it. He thought adding a gate and better access to the north end of the building could be something 

they could achieve in the design of the play area. Berman asked about the potential issue with the turning 

radius at the southern end. Dangermond said modifications to the plan and tree trimming could allow for 

this. It was clearly designed to allow truck access at one time and was rated to allow it. Dangermond  noted 

that once a truck got close to the building there were landscape rocks that could prevent truck access. They 

would be doing modifications in that area as well to allow closer truck access. Dangermond reported that 

they would work with the Fire Department and address the areas of concern.  

 

Branigan asked for thoughts about the request to add sidewalks. Lewis said they needed to look into this 

and there were improvements to do at the crossing on Ferry Slip. Their landscape architects needed to look 

at the formal entrance not having a lot of room for a pathway because of landscape and the grade. Patrick 

suggested that they find a way to add a path closer to the parking lot and add markings on the pavement to 

make it easier to direct people. He thought the new ticket booth would be facing the wrong way because it 

would place it into the prevailing winds. Dangermond said they looked at other areas to place it but it 

wouldn't fit. They had worked on designs to help with wind protection and weather. 

 

Berman asked what their practices were for tsunami evacuations. Lewis explained there were signs for 

evacuations onsite. They ran quarterly drills to show people where to go, and there were maps on site. Lewis 

noted they encouraged staff to evacuation to the MSI Building and trained their staff to know the evacuation 

routes. Branigan asked if Phase II of their improvements was included in this request. Dangermond reported 

it wasn’t and they would be submitted at another time. Patrick asked if Phase II would have to have a 

conditional use approval. Tokos would look into this. Hanselman asked if the rehab center would be open 

4



Page 3    Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – 10/14/19. 
 

to the public. Lewis said it was strictly rehabilitation and not open to the public. This area would also be 

for the Aquarium’s collection, and would be used as an education center to work with OSU and students 

for education opportunities.  

 

Opponents: None were heard.  

 

Tokos suggested the Commission continue the hearing for two weeks and he would bring the refined 

conditions back to them at that time.  

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner East, seconded by Commissioner Berman to keep the hearing open 

for two weeks for File 6-CUP-19. The motion carried in a unanimous voice vote. 

 

B. File 8-NCU-19.  
 

Tokos reviewed the staff report. He noted the applicant was in attendance and owned an undivided interest 

in the property along with a few other groups. Tokos believed their intent was to eventually put ownership 

under one LLC. He reported that the owners needed to make sure they didn't encroach on the utility 

easement across the property. The applicant would be required to located the utilities and report this on 

their building permit documents for the Public Works Department to review. 

 

Berman asked if Tokos had an updated diagram of setbacks. Tokos said there was ample space to meet 

setback requirements and they would have to provide this with the building application. 

 

Proponents: Tyson Cross and Khari Gates, partial owners of the property, addressed the Commission and 

said they were present to answer questions. No questions were heard.  

 

Opponents: None were heard. 

 

Hearing closed at 7:49pm. 

 

Commissioners East, Hardy, Berman, Hanselman, and Branigan had no issues with the request. Patrick 

didn’t have any issues and asked how this decision interacted with the new ADU or duplex rules. Tokos 

explained that these rules weren’t relevant because the property was an existing mobile home park. The 

rules were more for new development.  

 

MOTION was made by Commissioner Branigan, seconded by Commissioner Berman to approve File 8-

NCU-19 with the staff conditions. The motion carried in a unanimous voice vote. 

 

6. New Business. None were heard.  

 

7. Unfinished Business. None were heard.  

 

8. Director Comments. Tokos gave updates to the Commission. He reported that the first 

Transportation System Plan Policy Advisory Committee would meet on October 16th. The City Council 

with hold a public hearing on the parking amendments on November 18th.  

 

Tokos reported that Associate Planner, Rachel Cotton gave her notice and her last day would be on 

November 1st. They would be advertising for the position and Tokos would have to juggle things while the 

department transitioned. Tokos noted the schedule for the Commission would be more spread out over time 

due to this. 

 

Tokos reported that he would be going to Salem on October 21st to make a presentation at the 

Transportation Summit. He would be talking about the OSU MSI structure and how it related to tsunami 

evacuation. On October 24th Tokos would be on a housing panel talking about changes the Commission 

made on housing in Newport. He reported that there has been eight Proud Grounds done and three were in 

Newport. All eight had been spoken for. Tokos noted that Habitat for Humanity was close to finishing the 

5



Page 4    Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – 10/14/19. 
 

duplexes on the city owned parcel. He was also hopeful the City would hear soon from OSU about their 

student housing project because the research building was moving along, and the demand on housing would 

increase.  

 

Berman asked for an update on the Samaritan House. Tokos said they backed out of their plans and he didn't 

know the reason why. He thought the funding had too many strings attached to it for them to do the 

development.  

 

Branigan asked where the City was with the issues on the bong sign. Tokos reported the owner was 

contesting and the issue would be coming up in court soon. Berman thought the City should relook at the 

electronic sign ordinance.  

 

9. Adjournment. Having no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:59 p.m. 

  

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

     

Sherri Marineau 

Executive Assistant  

6



BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION
OF THE CITY OF NEWPORT, COUNTY
OF LINCOLN, STATE OF OREGON

IN THE MATTER OF PLANNING COMMISSION )
FILE # $-NCU-19, APPLICATION FOR VERIFICATION, )
ALTERATION, & EXPANSION OF A NONCONFORMING ) FINAL
USE, AS SUBMITTED BY CHRISTOPHER KHARI GATES ) ORDER
(ON BEHALF OF HIMSELF, MOLLY FONNER GATES, OTIS )
A. GATES, OAG PROPERTIES, AND WHISKEYTOWN )
INVESTMENTS, LLC, OWNERS) )

ORDER APPROVING a request per Chapter 14.32 (“Nonconforming Uses, Lots, and Structures”) of the
Newport Municipal Code (NMC) for the alteration and expansion of a nonconforming mobile home park
known as $urfside Community. Specifically, the applicants are requesting approval to convert an existing
mobile home space into two RV spaces for park models. The result will be a reduction in the number of
permanent mobile home spaces from 24 to 23 and an increase from 8 to 10 in the number ofRV spaces. The
subject property is located at 392 NW 3rd St. (Lincoln County Assessor’s Tax Map 11-11-05-CD, Tax Lots
10500, 10501, 10600, 10700, and 10800. In sum, the properties total to approximately 2.22 acres in size.

WHEREAS:

1.) The Planning Commission has duly accepted the application filed consistent with the Newport
Municipal Code; and

2.) The Planning Commission has duly held a public hearing on the request, with a public hearing a
matter of record of the Planning Commission on October 14, 2019; and

3.) At the public hearing on said application, the Planning Commission received testimony and
evidence; and

4.) At the conclusion of said public hearing, after consideration and discussion, upon a motion duly
seconded, the Planning Commission APPROVED the request.

THEREFORE, LET IT BE RESOLVED by the City ofNewport Planning Commission that the attached
findings of fact and conclusions (Exhibit “A”) support the approval of the requested nonconforming use
permit.

BASED UPON THE ABOVE, the Planning Commission determines that the request to verify, alter, and
expand a nonconforming use is in conformance with the provisions of the Comprehensive Plan and the
Municipal Code of the City of Newport; and the request is, therefore, granted subject to the following
conditions:

Page 1 fINAL ORDER: #8-NCU-19 - Christopher Khari Gates, et at.

7



1. Approval of this land use permit is based on the submitted written narrative and pians listed as
Attachments to this report. No work shall occur under this permit other than that which is specified
within these documents. It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to comply with these
documents and the limitations of approval described herein.

2. The applicant shall comply with all applicable building codes, fire codes, zoning ordinance
requirements, and other public health and safety regulations to ensure that the use will not be
detrimental to the safety and health ofpersons in the neighborhood. The applicants are responsible for
obtaining the necessary approvals and permits pertaining to the proposed use.

3. As units are replaced within the park, the replacement units shall comply with the most current Oregon
Manufactured Dwelling and Park Specialty Code, including the Fire and Life Safety Standards listed
under ORS 446.100.

4. Units shall adhere to zoning setbacks unless a reduced setback had been previously established with a
non-conforming unit.

5. As units are replaced within the park, the new units shall be situated in such a manner that they do not
impair the City’s ability to exercise its easement rights and access its utilities. It is the owner’s
responsibility to establish the location of such utilities and easements when placing new units and the
presence of such utilities and easements may require reconfiguration of spaces.

Accepted and approved this 28t11 day of October, 2019.

Jim Patrick, Chair
Newport Planning Commission

Attest:

Derrick I. Tokos, AICP
Community Development Director

Page 2 FINAL ORDER: #8-NCU-19 Christopher Khari Gates, et al.

8



EXHIBIT “A”

Case file # 8-NCU-19

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Christopher Khari Gates, on behalf of himself, Molly Fonner Gates, Otis A. Gates, OAG
Properties, and Whiskeytown Investments, LLC (owners) submitted an application on September
23, 2019, per Chapter 14.32/”Nonconforming Uses, Lots, and Structures” of the Newport Municipal
Code, for the alteration and expansion of a nonconforming use. The property is currently being used
as a mobile home park (Surfside Community). Specifically, the applicants are requesting approval to
convert an existing mobile home space into two RV spaces for park models. The result will be a
reduction in the number of permanent mobile home spaces from 24 to 23 and an increase from $ to
10 in the number of RV spaces.

2. The subject property is located at 392 NW 3rd St. (Lincoln County Assessor’s Tax Map 11-11-
05-CD, Tax Lots 10500, 10501, 10600, 10700, and 10800. In sum, the properties total to
approximately 2.22 acres in size.

3. Staff reports the following facts in connection with the application:

a. Plan Designation: High Density Residential.
b. Zone Designation: R-4/”High Density Multi-Family Residential”.
c. Surrounding Land Uses: A mix of single- and multi-family residential, commercial,

and public uses.
d. Topography and Vegetation: The subject property is generally flat except slope along

the west and north sides of Tax Lot 10700. North of the mobile home park, the
terrain slopes steeply up to NW 5th Street. That steeply sloped property is not a part
of the park. Landscaping exists around the perimeter of the mobile home park.

e. Existing Structures: The property contains the Surfside Mobile Village consisting of
32 sites (24 permanent residences and 8 for recreational vehicles, including park
models), a restroom/laundromat, and an office/storage facility.

f. Utilities: All are available to the site.
g. Development Constraints: None known.
h. Past Land Use Actions: File No. 4-CUP-73 — authorized expansion of the Glenwood

Cottages and Trailer Park to 18 trailer parking spaces. Approved February 12, 1973.
File No. 2-NCU-13 authorized the mobile home park and expansion to 31 units on
November 25, 2018. File No. 4-NCU-1 8, authorized installation of an additional RV
space for a park model unit, increasing the total number of spaces to 24 manufactured
dwelling spaces and 8 RV spaces.

4. Upon acceptance ofthe application, the Community Development (Planning) Department mailed
notice of the proposed action on September 24, 2019 to affected property owners required to receive
such notice by the Newport Municipal Code, and to various city departments, agencies, and public
utilities. The notice referenced the criteria by which the application was to be assessed. The notice
required that written comments on the application be submitted by 5:00 p.m. October 14, 2019, or be
submitted in person at the hearing. Comments could also be submitted during the course of the

EXHIBIT “A’ Findings for Final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # $-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 1 of $

9



public hearing. The notice was also published in the Newport News-Times on October 4, 2019. No
comments were received in response to the notice.

5. At the October 14, 2019 public hearing, the Planning Commission received the staff report and
allowed for testimony on the request. The minutes of the October 14, 2019 meeting is hereby
incorporated by reference. The Planning Staff Report with Attachments is hereby incorporated by
reference into the findings. The Planning Staff Report Attachments included the following:

Attachment “A” — Application form
Attachment “B” — Letter from Christopher Khari Gates, dated 9/20/19
Attachment “C” — Application narrative
Attachment “D” — Surfside Mobile Village approved spaces (from File 2-NCU-13)
Attachment “E” — Layout for the park model units
Attachment “F” —2012 aerial image of the park
Attachment “G” — List of photos with index
Attachment “H” — Utility records for the property
Attachment “I” — Map of city utilities within the park
Attachment “J” — Oregon Secretary of State business entity data
Attachment “K” — Deed for the subject property (Instrument No. 20 19-02477)
Attachment “L” — Public hearing notice

6. Explanation of the Request: Pursuant to Section 14.32.070/”Alteration, Expansion, or
Replacement of Nonconforming Uses and Structures” of the Newport Municipal Code, after
verification of the status of a nonconforming use pursuant to Subsection 14.32.060, the approval
authority may authorize alteration, expansion, or replacement of any nonconforming use or structure
when it is found that such alteration, expansion, or replacement will not result in a greater adverse
impact on the neighborhood.

Christopher Khari Gates indicates that they are seeking approval to alter and expand the non
conforming park in such a way that two park model RV units will occupy space #1 within the park as
opposed to a double-wide manufactured dwelling (Attachment “B”). The city approved the park as a
non-conforming use in 2013 (File No. 2-NCU-13) and later authorized its expansion by one park
model unit (File No. 4-NCU-1 8). A diagram has been provided showing where space #1 is located
within the park (Attachment “D”). A plan showing where the park model units will be placed has
been submitted as well (Attachment “E”). If this request is approved, the non-conforming park will
consist of 23 mobile or manufactured dwelling spaces and 10 RV spaces.

7. Ownership Authorization: A property owner, person with written approval of the property
owner, or city manager may apply for a land use application (NMC 14.52.050). The application
form lists TKO Properties I, LLC as the applicant, with Christopher Khari Gates as an agent,
member, and owner (Attachment “A”). On March 20, 2019, the mobile home park was conveyed
from Douglas E. Fitts and Verna L. Fitts, Trustees to several parties that were acquiring
undivided interests in the property (Attachment “K”). Christopher Khari Gates, in an individual
capacity, is listed as one of the parties acquiring an undivided interest. Therefore, Mr. Gates is a
property owner authorized to submit the application.

EXHIBIT “A findings for final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # 8-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et at Page 2 of 8

10



8. Verification of Status of Nonconforming Use or Structure: Pursuant to NMC Section
14.32.060, upon receiving an application to alter, expand, or replace a nonconforming use or
structure, the approval authority shall determine that the use or structure is nonconforming. Such
determination shall be based on findings that:

• The use or structure was legally established at the time the Zoning Ordinance was enacted or
amended; and

• The use has not been discontinued for a continuous 12-month period.

The approval authority may require the applicants provide evidence that a use has been maintained
over time. Evidence that a use has been maintained may include, but is not limited to, copies of
utility bills, tax records, business licenses, advertisements, and telephone or trade listings.

The approval authority shall verify the status of a nonconforming use as being the nature and extent
of the use at the time of adoption or amendment of the Zoning Code provision disallowing the use
(September 7, 1982). When determining the nature and extent of a nonconforming use, the approval
authority shall consider:

• Description of the use;
• The types and quantities of goods or services provided and activities conducted;
• The scope of the use (volume, intensity, frequency, etc.), including fluctuations in the level of

activity;
• The number, location, and size of physical improvements associated with the use;
• The amount of land devoted to the use; and
• Other factors the approval authority may determine appropriate to identify the nature and extent

of the particular use.

A reduction of scope or intensity of any part of the use as determined under this subsection for a
period of 12 months or more creates a presumption that there is no right to resume the use above the
reduced level. Nonconforming use status is limited to the greatest level of use that has been
consistently maintained since the use became nonconforming. The presumption may be rebutted by
substantial evidentiary proof that the long-term fluctuations are inherent in the type of use being
considered.

9. Applicable Criteria (Section 14.32.070): After verification of the status of a nonconforming use
pursuant to Subsection 14.32.060, the approval authority may authorize alteration, expansion, or
replacement of any nonconforming use or structure when it is found that such alteration, expansion,
or replacement will not result in a greater adverse impact on the neighborhood. In making this
finding, the approval authority shall consider the factors listed below. Adverse impacts to one of the
factors may, but shall not automatically, constitute greater adverse impact on the neighborhood.

(1) The character and history of the use and of development in the surrounding area;
(2) The comparable degree of noise, vibration, dust, odor, fumes, glare, or smoke

detectable within the neighborhood;
(3) Adequacy of infrastructure to accommodate the use. for the purpose of this

subsection, infrastructure includes sewer, water, and streets;
(4) The comparative numbers and kinds of vehicular trips to the site;

EXHIBIT “A” Findings for final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # $-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 3 of 8

11



(5) The comparative amount and nature of outside storage, loading, and parking;
(6) The comparative visual appearance;
(7) The comparative hours of operation;
(8) The comparative effect on solar access and privacy;
(9) Other factors that impact the character or needs of the neighborhood.

CONCLUSIONS

In order to grant the permit, the Planning Commission must find that the applicants have provided a
complete application, that there is substantial evidence that the Commission can rely upon to verify
the nature and extent of the existing nonconformity, and that the expansion will not result in a greater
adverse impact on the neighborhood considering the criteria listed under NMC 14.32.070.

1. The nature and extent of the existing non-conforming use was established in 2013 with the City’s
approval of the park on the subject property at 31 units and again in 201$ when the park was
expanded to accommodate an additional park model unit. An aerial image of the park, taken in
201$, illustrates that it conformed at the time with the original approval (Attachment “F”). The
applicant has provided utility records showing that the park is in active use (Attachment “H”) and
photographs from 201$ show that the park has been maintained (Attachment “G”).

2. After verification of the status of a nonconforming use pursuant to Subsection 14.32.060, the
Planning Commission may authorize alteration, expansion, or replacement of any nonconforming
use or structure when it is found that such alteration, expansion, or replacement will not result in a
greater adverse impact on the neighborhood. The applicants have provided findings addressing the
criteria for a “no greater adverse impact” determination as follows:

a. The character and history ofthe use and ofdevelopment in the surrounding area.

i. The applicant explains that the Surfside Mobile Village has been in existence since 1972.
It is a 55 and older community where most all the residences are occupied on a full-time
basis. The Planning Commission determination in File No. 2-NCU-13 and 8-NCU -18
confirmed that a valid nonconforming use had been established on the subject property. The
applicant has provided photographs showing that the park has been maintained in good
condition (Attachment “G”). The findings indicate that to the west ofthe park across Hurbert
Street is a commercial office building, a vacant lot, a duplex, and a single-family residence.
To the north, the terrain climbs steeply and then levels out adjacent to NW 5th Street. These
undeveloped, residentially zoned lots overlook the park. A portion of the property to the east
of the park is city-owned open space. The areas to the south across 3rd Street are residential.
However, the south side of 3rd Street is a large hill that slopes up, with residences that are
set back a fair distance from NW 3rd Street. These homes are not readily visible from the
park. Generally the area west of the property can be described as the Nye Beach Commercial
area. The property is about one and a half blocks west of Highway 101; and 3rd Street,
which abuts the subject property to the south. To the east of the property is an apartment
building, a commercial ftieling station, and the former city sewer plant where the fire training
tower is built.

EXHIBIT ‘A’ findings for Final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # 8-NCU-l 9 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 4 of 8

12



ii. As has been previously established, the park is grade separated from adjoining residential
areas. This includes the original park (Tax Lot 10500) and the expansion areas (Tax Lots
10501, 10600, 10700, and 10800). The tax lots orient to, and are accessible from, roads
internal to the park. Tax Lots 10501 and 10700 are accessed from NW 3rd Street, a collector
roadway that serves the primary access to the Nye Beach Commercial area.

iii. The mobile home park satisfies perimeter setbacks of the R-4 zone district. This includes
the double-wide that is to be removed from space #1. The setback from 3rd Street is 15-feet. A
diagram included with the application indicates that one of the park models would be placed 5-
feet from the street (Attachment “E”). This would be inconsistent with the character and history
of the use and of development in the surrounding area, which generally satisfy setback
requirements. There is sufficient area within space #1 for the park model unit to be placed in a
manner that conforms to the setback standard. A condition of approval should be imposed
requiring adherence to setback requirements, unless a nonconforming unit was established with
a reduced setback.

iv. Considering the above, the Planning Commission concludes that the expansion of the use
will not cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood, relative to the character and
history of the use and of development in the surrounding area.

b. The comparable degree ofnoise, vibration, dust, odor, fumes, glare, or smoke detectable
within the neighborhood.

i. The applicant notes that roads in the park are paved so there is little if any noise from any
vehicles moving in the park. The uses do not cause dust, odor, fumes, glare, or smoke. They
further note that the park model units will be placed on foundations and permanently connected
to utilities.

ii. Considering the above, the Planning Commission concludes that the expansion of the use
will not create noise, vibration, dust, odor, fumes, glare, or smoke in a manner that would result
in a greater adverse impact on the neighborhood.

c. Adequacy ofinfrastructure to accommodate the use (including sewer, water, and streets.)

i. The applicant notes that roads in the park are paved so there is little if any noise from any
vehicles moving in the park. The uses do not cause dust, odor, fumes, glare, or smoke. They
further note that the park model units will be placed on foundations and permanently connected
to utilities.

ii. The applicant states that the detail drawing they submitted (Attachment “E”) establishes
that suitable vehicle access can be provided for two park model units without impeding the
City’s access to a nearby utility manhole.

iii. NW 3rd and NW Hurbert Streets provide access to the park. These streets are improved
and can handle traffic attributed to an additional park model unit.

iv. As documented in prior land use approvals, manufactured dwellings and appurtenant
structures within the park extend over public sewer and storm drain lines and associated

EXHIBIT A Findings for Final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # 8-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 5 of 8

13



easements. This makes it difficult for the City to exercise its easement rights to access the
utilities for maintenance purposes or to address failures. This has a direct bearing on the near
and long term adequacy of these utilities to serve the subject development and surrounding
areas. Previous applicant’s testified that a number of the units in the park were nearing the
end of their useful life. The Commission elected to address the encroachments by requiring
that, as units are replaced, they be situated in a manner that does not impair the City’s ability
to exercise its easement rights and access these utilities. A condition of approval was
included in the 2013 and 201$ approvals addressing this issue, and it is appropriate that it be
carried forward with this decision since circumstances on the ground have not changed.

v. An aerial image shows the location of the City’s utilities within the park (Attachment “U’). It
illustrates that sanitary sewer and storm water lines are in close proximity to the northwest
corner of space #1. The location of these lines and associated easements should be identified
by the applicant prior to placement of the park model units to ensure that the City has adequate
access to the utilities. This may require survey work.

vi. Considering the above, the Commission concludes that expansion ofthe use will not cause
any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood, relative to the adequacy of infrastructure to
accommodate the use.

d. The comparative numbers and kinds ofvehicular trips to the site.

i. The applicant notes that an additional park model unit will add only a minor amount of
traffic. Given where space #lis located, additional traffic is likely to be from NW 3rd Street,
which has been recently improved and is already a primary access to the Nye Beach
Commercial area. Further, the trips to the site will be residential in nature. The placement of
one additional park model on this tax lot will be still fewer units than could be allowed by an
apartment building, which is an allowed use on the property.

ii. This park is a residential development, and the types and kind of trips associated with the
park use are what would be expected in a residential area. Densities are slightly higher than
what exists in nearby residential neighborhoods; however, this is offset somewhat by the fact
that this is a park dedicated to senior living. Further, as previously noted, the park is isolated
from adjoining residential neighborhoods by terrain, so none of the park elements will orient
traffic onto local streets in these areas (i.e. all traffic flows to NW Hurbert or NW 3rd Street).

iii. Considering the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion of the use will
not cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood relative to this criterion.

e. The comparative amount and nature ofoutside storage, loading, andparking.

i. Parking is provided on site. There is virtually no loading or unloading given the primary
residential nature and use of the additional unit.

ii. The diagram submitted with the application shows that space #1 is large enough to provide a
parking space for each park model unit, which is the City’s requirement for RV spaces (NMC
14.14.030(28)).

EXHIBIT ‘A” Findings for Final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # 8-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 6 of$

14



iii. Given the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion of the use will not
cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood with respect to comparative amount and
nature of outside storage, loading, and parking.

f The comparative visual appearance.

i. The applicant states that the visual appearance of the park will be enhanced because the
double-wide manufactured home currently occupying the space is uninhabitable in its current
state and is close to 40 years old. It will be replaced with two new park model homes similar in
size, dimensions, and aesthetics to the new park model homes placed on Tax Lot 10700.

ii. Considering the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion of the use will
not cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood as it relates to comparative visual
appearance.

g. The comparative hours ofoperation.

i. The applicant notes that the hours of operation will not change. The one additional unit is a
residential unit.

ii. Based on the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion of the use will not
cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood as far as comparative hours ofoperation.

h. The comparative effect on solar access andprivacy.

i. Given that the park sits lower than adjoining property, and the addition unit that is proposed
is a single-story unit, solar access to adjoining property will not be affected. Similarly, since
the units sit lower than the surrounding property, there will be no impact on privacy on
adjoining property.

ii. Given the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion of the use will not
cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood, relative to the comparative effect on
solar access and privacy.

1. Other factors which impact the character or needs ofthe neighborhood.

i. In their findings, the applicants list the following other factors to be considered:

• The new park model will be an enhancement to the property.

• The geographical features of the area tend to separate the property from other
residential uses in the area.

• The approval of this proposal will assist in providing safe, clean, and affordable
housing for those 55 and older.

ii. Given the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion of the use will not
cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood, relative to other factors which impact
the character or needs of the neighborhood.

EXHIBIT “A” Findings for final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # 8-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 7 of 8

15



j. The approval authority must consider the purpose ofthe current zoningprovisions that cannot
be satisfied when determining whether or not the alteration, expansion, or replacement ofa
nonconforming use or structure will have a greater adverse impact on the neighborhood.

1. A condition of approval is attached requiring that new units placed within the park adhere to
the provisions of the Oregon Manufactured Dwelling and Park Specialty Code, as amended and
that it satisfy fire and life safety standards of ORS 446.100. This ensures that the degree to
which park units do not conform to these standards will lessen over time.

ii. Based on the above, the Planning Commission concludes that expansion ofthe use will not
cause any greater adverse impact on the neighborhood, relative to the purpose of the current
zoning provisions that cannot be satisfied.

OVERALL CONCLUSION

Based on the application material, the Planning Staff Report, and other evidence and
testimony in the record, the Planning Commission concludes that the above findings of fact and
conclusions demonstrate compliance with the criteria for the verification, alteration and expansion of
a nonconforming use found in Chapter 14.32 of the Newport Municipal Code (NMC), subject to the
following:

1. Approval of this land use permit is based on the submitted written narrative and plans
listed as Attachments to this report. No work shall occur under this permit other than
that which is specified within these documents. It shall be the responsibility of the
property owner to comply with these documents and the limitations of approval
described herein.

2. The applicant shall comply with all applicable building codes, fire codes, zoning
ordinance requirements, and other public health and safety regulations to ensure that the
use will not be detrimental to the safety and health ofpersons in the neighborhood. The
applicants are responsible for obtaining the necessary approvals and permits pertaining
to the proposed use.

3. As units are replaced within the park, the replacement units shall comply with the most
current Oregon Manufactured Dwelling and Park Specialty Code, including the Fire
and Life Safety Standards listed under ORS 446.100.

4. Units shall adhere to zoning setbacks unless a reduced setback had been previously
established with a non-conforming unit.

5. As units are replaced within the park, the new units shall be situated in such a manner
that they do not impair the City’s ability to exercise its easement rights and access its
utilities. It is the owner’s responsibility to establish the location of such utilities and
easements when placing new units and the presence of such utilities and easements may
require reconfiguration of spaces.

EXHIBIT “A” Findings for final Order for Nonconforming Use Permit # 8-NCU-19 — Christopher Khari Gates, et al Page 8 of 8

16



BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION
OF THE CITY OF NEWPORT,
COUNTY OF LINCOLN, STATE OF OREGON

IN THE MATTER OF PLANNING COMMISSION )
FILE #6-CUP-19, APPLICATION FOR A ) FINAL
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AS SUBMITTED BY ) ORDER
THE OREGON COAST AQUARIUM )

ORDER APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT, per Newport Municipal Code Section
14.03.070(14), for the planned remodel and expansion of the Oregon Coast Aquarium. Almost half of the
38,573 square foot main aquarium building will be remodeled, primarily in the lobby, café, and exhibit
galleries. The building will be expanded by about 1,800 square feet to accommodate ticketing operations
and provide additional exhibit space. Improvements to the grounds will include new wayfinding signage,
new sidewalks and crosswalks, a remodeled children’s play area, and a new small amphitheater for animal
presentations. The property is located at 2820 SE Ferry Slip Road, Newport, Oregon 97365. It is identified
as Tax Lots 00101, 00298, 01600, and 01900 of Assessor’s Map 11-11-17. Additional parcels utilized by
the Aquarium, namely for parking and support services, are not impacted by this proposal.

WHEREAS:

1.) The Planning Commission has duly accepted the application filed consistent with the Newport
Municipal Code; and

2.) The Planning Commission duly held public hearings on the request, with such hearing occurring on
October 14, 2019 and October 28, 2019; and

3.) At the public hearings on said application, the Planning Commission received testimony and
evidence; and

4.) At the conclusion of said public hearings, after consideration and discussion, upon a motion duly
seconded, the Planning Commission APPROVED the request.

THEREFORE, LET IT BE RESOLVED by the City ofNewport Planning Commission that the attached
findings of fact and conclusions (Exhibit “A”) support the approval of the requested conditional use permit
with the following condition(s):

1. Approval of this land use permit is based on the submitted written narrative and plans listed as
Attachments to the staff report. No use shall occur under this permit other than that which is
specified within these documents. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant/property owner to
comply with these documents and the limitations of approval described herein.

2. The applicant shall comply with all applicable building codes, fire codes, and other public health and
safety regulations to ensure that the use will not be detrimental to the safety and health ofpersons in

Page 1 FINAL ORDER: #6-CUP-19 Oregon Coast Aquarium.

17



the neighborhood. The applicant is responsible for obtaining the necessary approvals and permits
pertaining to the proposed use. If the applicant must materially modify the size or height of the
building in order to comply with these codes, than a conditional use permit shall be submitted to
establish that the changes are consistent with the overall development character of the neighborhood.

3. Written consent shall be obtained from the Port of Newport for the improvements described herein
prior to issuance of building permits.

4. The applicant shall upgrade the path on the east side of the property for fire access use. This
includes providing overhead clearance of 12 feet, and a travel surface capable of handling the load
capacities identified in section 503.2.3 and Appendix D, section 102.1 of the 2014 Oregon Fire
Code. Turn radiuses along the pathway shall satisfy City of Newport Public Works Department
standards. A licensed engineer shall certify that the load capacity requirements have been met. The
improvements and required certification shall be submit prior to issuance of occupancy permits.

5. The applicant shall install an emergency access gated entrance at the end of the service road at the
north end of the property and extend the access south, as needed, to provide fire hose access to all
sides ofthe buildings. Such improvements shall conform to the requirements ofAppendix D section
103.5 of the 2014 Oregon Fire Code.

6. Pedestrian connections shall be established from the crosswalk landings along the east side of SE
Ferry Slip Road to the facility entrance, and along the north driveway to SE 26th Street, including the
property frontage between Marine Science Drive and the north driveway. Such improvements shall
be completed prior to occupancy of the planned renovation and expansion of the exhibit galleries.

BASED UPON THE ABOVE, the Planning Commission determines that the request for a Conditional Use
Permit to renovate and expand the Oregon Coast Aquarium is in conformance with the provisions of the
Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Ordinance of the City ofNewport, and the request is therefore granted.

Accepted and approved this 22th day of October, 2019.

James Patrick, Chair
Newport Planning Commission

Attest:

Derrick I. Tokos, AICP
Community Development Director

Page 2 FINAL ORDER: #6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium.

18



EXHIBIT “A”

Case File No. 6-CUP-19

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Oregon Coast Aquarium (Steve Dangermond, Dangermond Keane Architecture, authorized
representative) submitted an application on September 24, 2019, for approval of a Conditional Use
Permit to remodel almost half of the 38,573 square foot main aquarium building, primarily in the
lobby, café, and exhibit galleries. The building will be expanded by about 1,800 square feet to
accommodate ticketing operations and provide additional exhibit space. Improvements to the
grounds will include new wayfinding signage, new sidewalks and crosswalks, a remodeled
children’s play area, and a new small amphitheater for animal presentations.

2. The subject property is located at 2820 SE Ferry Slip Road, Newport, Oregon 97365. It is
identified as Tax Lots 00101, 00298, 01600, and 01900 of Assessor’s Map 11-11-17. Additional
parcels utilized by the Aquarium, namely for parking and support services are not impacted by this
proposal. The parcel is 44.09 acres per Lincoln County Tax Assessor records.

3. Staff reports the following facts in connection with the application:

a. Plan Designation: Yaquina Bay Shoreland and Commercial.

b. Zone Designation: W-2/”Water-Related” and C-2/”Tourist Commercial.”

c. Surrounding Land Uses: South Beach Marina and Hatfield Marine Science Center to
the north, Yaquina Bay Estuary to the east, tourist commercial businesses, an RV Park,
and hotel uses to the south and west.

d. Topography and Vegetation: The property is gradually sloped with mature trees and
understory vegetation in areas that are not developed.

e. Existing Structures: A main aquarium building, passages of the deep exhibit, and
associated support and administrative structures.

f. Utilities: All are available to the site.

g. Development Constraints: Wetlands and floodplain; however, neither of these
constraints is present in the developed areas.

h. Past Land Use Actions: file No. 1-CP-89/1-Z-89 (Ord. No. 1539) — Amended the
Newport Comprehensive Plan Map from Industrial to Shoreland and Zoning Map from
I-1/”Light Industrial” to W-2/”Water-Related” for property immediately north of SE
29th Street where the “Passages of the Deep” Exhibit is now located. file No. 6-CP-
89/6-Z-89 (Ord. No. 1964) — Amended the Newport Comprehensive Plan Map and
Estuarine Management Unit provisions of the Newport Zoning Ordinance to provide

EXHIBIT “A” Findings for Final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. I

19



for discharge of waste seawater into Yaquina Bay. File No. ]-PAR-90/6-PAR-90/7-
PAR-90 — Land partitions associated with the reconfiguration of SE Ferry Slip Road to
position the aquarium site for development. File No. 4-TB-89/4-TBP-92 — Temporary
land use permit for modular trailer associated with construction of the aquarium. File
No. 7-TSP-] 2/4-TSP-i 7 — Temporary land use permits for special events. File No. 1-
SV-] 7 (Ord. No. 2119) — Vacation of a portion of undeveloped SE ferry Slip Road
right-of-way to facilitate future development of Oregon Coast Aquarium owned
property immediately south of SE 29th Street.

4. Upon acceptance of the application, the Community Development (Planning) Department
mailed notice of the proposed action on September 25, 2019, to affected property owners required
to receive such notice by the Newport Zoning Ordinance, and to various city departments,
agencies, and public utilities. The notice referenced the criteria by which the application was to
be assessed. The notice required that written comments on the application be submitted by 5:00
p.m., October 14, 2019, or be submitted in person at the hearing. A request was made of the
Newport News-Times to publish a public notice on October 4, 2019. Unfortunately, the News-
Times did not publish the notice as requested. As this is a legal requirement (NMC 14.52.060(F)),
the Commission continued the hearing to October 2$, 2019 so that a notice could be published in
accordance with the City’s requirements. The only comments received were from the Newport
Fire Department (Attachment “K”).

5. Public hearings were held on October 14, 2019 and October 2$, 2019. At the initial hearing,
the Planning Commission received the staff report and heard testimony from the applicant. The
minutes of the October 14, 2019 and October 28, 2019 hearings are hereby incorporated by
reference. The Planning Staff Report with Attachments is hereby incorporated by reference into
the findings. The Planning Staff Report Attachments included the following:

Attachment “A” — Application form
Attachment “B” — Applicant’s narrative, maps of planned improvements, and architectural

renderings
Attachment “C” — Parcel ownership map
Attachment “D” — Lincoln County Assessor Property Reports
Attachment “E” — Aquarium lease with the City of Newport
Attachment “F” — Aquarium lease with the Port of Newport
Attachment “G” — Minutes from the 8/19/19 City Council meeting
Attachment “H” — Zoning map of the property
Attachment “I” — 10/14/19 public hearing notice
Attachment “J” — Staff email to the Port of Newport, dated 10/9/19
Attachment “K” — Email from Fire Chief Rob Murphy, dated 10/10/19
Attachment “L” — 10/28/19 public hearing notice

6. Explanation of the Request: In response to a recent major strategic planning effort, The
Oregon Coast Aquarium has launched a Capital Campaign to refresh and enhance the visitor
experience of the Aquarium, and to construct a new Marine Rehabilitation Center. The Marine
Rehabilitation Center is a future project located on an adjacent property. Over the next two years,
this first phase of the campaign will fund a series of small proj ects throughout the public portions

EXHIBIT “A’ findings for final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. 2

20



of the buildings and grounds. This will be the first comprehensive remodel of the original aquarium
building since its construction in 1990. No work is anticipated in the “Passages of the Deep”
exhibit which was finished in 2000.

This request is for a Conditional Use Permit in order to construct roughly $9 million in projects
that will improve the guest experience, with a modest increase in capacity. No major addition or
expansion is planned; instead, almost all of the work will take place within the aquarium building
or will remodel portions of the grounds. Of the 38,573 sf of the original main aquarium building,
almost hail will be remodeled (totaling 17,500 sO, primarily in the lobby, café, and exhibit
galleries. There are two modest additions planned, for a total of 1800 sf; an 850 sf expansion of
one of the galleries and a 950 sf addition to the front of the building to better accommodate the
aquarium’s ticketing operations. There will not be a change of use in any portions of the structure.
Gallery improvements will include a number of new and remodeled wet exhibit tanks, all new
interpretive signage, new lighting, and paint. Improvements to the grounds will include new
directional/wayfinding signage, some new sidewalks and crosswalks, a remodeled children’s play
area, and a new small amphitheater for animal presentations. As the original aquarium building is
located in the center of the aquarium property, none of the planned improvements will be visible
from surrounding public streets. Maps illustrating the location of planned improvements are
included in Attachment “B.”

7. Conditional Use Permit Required: A Conditional Use Permit was not required by the City
when the original aquarium was constructed. At the time, the City determined that the aquarium
use was permitted outright in both the C-2/”tourist commercial” and W-2/”Water-Related” zone
districts. This is addressed specifically in the staff report associated with the rezoning of one of
the parcels from “I-i/Light Industrial” to “W-2/Water-Related” in 1929 (File No. 1-CP-$9/1-Z-
89).

In 1929, the C-2 zone listed “non-commercial educational, scientific, and research organizations”
as an outright permitted use. The W-2 zone similarly allowed “marine research and education
facilities of observation, sampling, recording or experimentation on or near the water” as an
outright permitted use. The aquarium property is split zoned with a portion of the facility falling
in the C-2 and the balance in the W-2; therefore, the use had to be permitted outright in both zone
districts. Entertainment oriented uses were allowed in 1989 in the C-2 and W-2 zones; however,
it is evident the City did not view the Aquarium as such a use because that would have required a
conditional use permit.

The City overhauled its zoning code for commercial/industrial uses in 2011 (Ordinance No. 2022),
at which time the provision allowing “non-commercial educational, scientific, and research
organizations” as an outright permitted use was eliminated. Under the current C-2 rules, a “non
profit educational and marine research facility” is categorized as an institutional or civic use, and
more specifically a community service use, that requires conditional use approval (NMC
14.03.070(14)). Alternatively, the City could consider the aquarium an entertainment oriented use;
however, that would similarly require conditional use review in both the C-2 and W-2 zones (ref:
NMC 14.03.070(3) and 14.03.080(9)).

EXHIBIT ‘A’ findings for Final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. 3

21



For these reasons, a conditional use permit is required for the proposed renovation and expansion
of the Oregon Coast Aquarium facilities.

8. Ownership Authorization: A property owner, person with written approval of the property
owner, or the city manager may apply for a land use application (NMC 14.52.050). The Oregon
Coast Aquarium leases the property on a long term basis from the City of Newport and Port of
Newport (Attachments “E” and “F”). Both leases are in effect through June of 2087.

The leases are almost identical. Section 7 of the documents addresses repairs and improvements
and stipulates that owner consent is required for work that exceeds 5% of the value of the existing
improvements on the property. The Lincoln County Assessor Reports (Attachment “D”) show the
market value of the existing improvements to be somewhere between $30-$35 million, so this $9
million project is large enough that owner consent is required. At its August 19, 2019 meeting,
the Newport City Council, by motion, granted its consent for the application to be filed
(Attachment “G”). The Port of Newport similarly requires owner consent, and they have been
notified of the issue (Attachment “J”). A condition of approval is included requiring the Port of
Newport agree to the improvements before building permits are issued.

9. The applicable criteria for the conditional use request are found in NMC Section 14.34.050:

a. The public facilities can adequately accommodate the proposed use.

b. The request complies with the requirements of the underlying zone or overlay zone.

c. The proposed use does not have an adverse impact greater than existing uses on nearby
properties; or impacts can be ameliorated through imposition of conditions of approval.

d. A proposed building or building modification is consistent with the overall development
character of the neighborhood with regard to building size and height, considering both
existing buildings and potential buildings allowable as uses permitted outright.

CONCLUSIONS

Regarding the applicable criteria for the conditional use request, the following conclusions can be
made:

A. Criterion #1. The public facilities can adequately accommodate the proposed use.

1. Public facilities are defined in the Zoning Ordinance as sanitary sewer, water, streets and
electricity. All public facilities are available and serve the property. The applicant notes that the
aquarium is an existing use on the property since 1990 and, as the expansion is modest, the public
facilities should easily accommodate the proposed use.

2. Street access to the property is available via SE Ferry Slip Road and SE 26th Street. SE Ferry Slip
Road is ffiuiy developed with a multi-use path on the west side. SE 26th Street is paved with limited
pedestrian amenities. The applicant notes that sidewalk and crosswalk improvements will be made;

EXHIBIT ‘A” Findings for Final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. 4

22



however, it is unclear from the materials where that work will occur. The level of investment being
made to the aquarium facility is such that it is timely for pedestrian connections to be established from
the crosswalk landings along the east side of SE Ferry Slip Road to the facility entrance, and along
the north driveway to SE 26th Street, including the property frontage between Marine Science Drive
and the north driveway. A condition of approval is included requiring this work be completed prior
to occupancy of the gallery renovation and expansion.

3. City water service to the site is provided via a 12-inch main in SE Ferry Slip Road. Sewer service
is provided via an 8-inch gravity line, also located in SE Ferry Slip Road. These services are adequate
to serve the facility. Electrical service is also in place to serve the property.

4. Given the size of the property, public streets are not sufficient to provide adequate fire access to
the facility. Fire service needs are met with internal driveways. The facility has grown and evolved
over the years, including the placement and orientation of internal exhibits. This has impacted the
adequacy of fire access. The City’s standards have changed as well in terms of the load requirements
for its equipment. An October 10, 2019 email from Fire Chief Rob Murphy (Attachment “K”) lists
changes they would like to see to ensure adequate fire access to the aquarium. They include structural
upgrades to the existing path on the east side of the property, and improved vertical clearance and
turn radiuses along the same path. They also would also like to see a gate restricted access for fire
service installed at the end of the existing service road at the north side of the facility, and that the
road be extended as needed to ensure hoses can reach all sides of the buildings. Given the size of the
facility, and the number of people that would be at risk in the event of a fire, the Commission finds it
necessary to require these fire access improvements as conditions of approval.

5. Considering the above, the Planning Commission concludes that the public facilities can
adequately accommodate the remodel and expansion with the conditions noted.

B. Criterion #2. The request complies with the requirements ofthe underlying zone or overlay zone.

1. This criterion addresses special requirements of the underlying or overlay zone beyond the standard
zoning ordinance requirements. Each zoning district includes “intent” language. For the W-2 district,
it includes “All conditional uses in a W-2 district shall also comply with the following standard: In
areas considered to be historic, unique, or scenic, the proposed use shall be designed to maintain or
enhance the historic, unique, or scenic quality. “(NMC 14.03.040)

2. The location in South Beach where the aquarium was constructed is not designated by the City as
historic or particularly unique. It is generally viewed as scenic and there are sensitive natural areas
along the perimeter of the property where it abuts the estuary. Care was taken to design the facility
such that it complements the natural setting within which it is located. Native vegetation has been
retained and hardscapes minimized internal to the site. The applicant’s materials show that the
planned expansion is modest and complements the existing improvements architecturally
(Attachment “B”). Accordingly, the Planning Commission finds that the renovation and expansion
plans complement the scenic qualities of the area and, therefore, this criterion is satisfied.

3. While portions of the property are within a 100-year floodplain, the areas where work will occur
are not encumbered by the overlay. There are no other overlays or provisions of the underlying zone
that are relevant to the project.

EXHIBIT “A” Findings for Final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. 5

23



C. Criterion #3. The proposed use does not have an adverse impact greater than existing uses on
nearby properties; or impacts can be ameliorated through imposition ofconditions ofapproval.

1. This criterion relates to the issue of whether or not the proposed use has potential “adverse
impacts” greater than existing uses and whether conditions may be attached to ameliorate those
“adverse impacts.” Impacts are defined in the Zoning Ordinance as including, but not being limited
to, the effect of nuisances such as dust, smoke, noise, glare, vibration, safety, and odors on a
neighborhood. Adequate off-street parking, or the lack thereof, may also be considered by the
Planning Commission under this criterion.

2. The applicant indicates that they believe the proposed improvements will not have an adverse
impact greater than existing uses on neighboring properties, nor will it greatly increase the impacts
on surrounding streets or infrastructure. This would be a reasonable conclusion for the
Commission to come to given that the main building will be expanded by only 1,800 square feet.
further, there is no reason to expect increases in noise, glare, vibration, dust, or air pollutants
associated with the project.

3. The aquarium facility has a substantial amount of off-street parking and the proposed
improvements are modest enough that no new parking is needed to accommodate the use.

4. Given the above, the Planning Commission concludes that the proposed use does not have an
adverse impact greater than existing uses on nearby properties.

D. Criterion #4. A proposed building or building modification is consistent with the overall
development character of the neighborhood with regard to building size and height, considering
both existing buildings andpotential buildings allowable as uses permitted outright.

1. The applicant notes that the proposed improvements are consistent with the current development’s
size and height, and the development character of buildings potentially allowable in the area.

2. The applicant has provided conceptual drawings ofthe planned improvements to the main building.
They may need to adjust aspects of the exterior design to comply with building codes, fire codes, and
other public health and safety regulations, including accessibility requirements. It is unlikely though
that such changes would materially impact size or height of the building. If that does happen, then a
new conditional use permit will be required. A condition to that effect is included below.

3. Given the above, the Planning Commission concludes that the use will be consistent with the
overall development character of the neighborhood with regard to building size and height.

OVERALL CONCLUSION

Based on the application material, the Planning Staff Report, and other evidence and testimony
in the record, the Planning Commission concludes that the above findings of fact and conclusions
demonstrate compliance with the criteria for a conditional use permit found in Section 14.34.050
of the Newport Municipal Code (NMC); and, therefore, the requested conditional use permit is
hereby approved with the imposition of the following conditions of approval:

EXHIBIT ‘A Findings for final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. 6

24



1. Approval of this land use permit is based on the submitted written narrative and plans listed as
Attachments to the staff report. No use shall occur under this permit other than that which is
specified within these documents. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant/property owner to
comply with these documents and the limitations of approval described herein.

2. The applicant shall comply with all applicable building codes, fire codes, and other public health
and safety regulations to ensure that the use will not be detrimental to the safety and health of
persons in the neighborhood. The applicant is responsible for obtaining the necessary approvals
and permits pertaining to the proposed use. If the applicant must materially modify the size or
height of the building in order to comply with these codes, than a conditional use permit shall be
submitted to establish that the changes are consistent with the overall development character of
the neighborhood.

3. Written consent shall be obtained from the Port ofNewport for the improvements described herein
prior to issuance of building permits.

4. The applicant shall upgrade the path on the east side of the property for fire access use. This
includes providing overhead clearance of 12 feet, and a travel surface capable ofhandling the load
capacities identified in section 503.2.3 and Appendix D, section 102.1 of the 2014 Oregon Fire
Code. Turn radiuses along the pathway shall satisfy City of Newport Public Works Department
standards. A licensed engineer shall certify that the load capacity requirements have been met.
The improvements and required certification shall be submit prior to issuance of occupancy
permits.

5. The applicant shall install an emergency access gated entrance at the end of the service road at the
north end of the property and extend the access south, as needed, to provide fire hose access to all
sides of the buildings. Such improvements shall conform to the requirements of Appendix D
section 103.5 of the 2014 Oregon Fire Code.

6. Pedestrian connections shall be established from the crosswalk landings along the east side of
SE Ferry Slip Road to the facility entrance, and along the north driveway to SE 26th Street,
including the property frontage between Marine Science Drive and the north driveway. Such
improvements shall be completed prior to occupancy of the planned renovation and expansion
of the exhibit galleries.

EXHIBIT “A’ findings for final Order for Conditional Use Permit # 6-CUP-19 — Oregon Coast Aquarium. 7

25



Attachment “L”

CITY OF NEWPORT
6-CUP-19

NOTICE OF A PUBLIC HEARING

The City of Newport Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on Monday, October 28, 2019, at 7:00 p.m. in
the City Hall Council Chambers to consider File No. 6-CUP-19, a request submitted by Oregon Coast Aquarium,
2820 SE ferry Slip Rd, Newport, OR 97365 (Steve Dangermond, Dangermond Keane Architecture, 1921 NW
Kearney St, Portland, OR 97209, authorized representative) per Section 14.03.080/”Water-Dependent and Water-
Related Uses” of the Newport Zoning Ordinance, for a conditional use permit to renovate the existing Oregon
Coast Aquarium which includes a 17,500 square foot remodel of the main building, primarily in the lobby, café,
and exhibit galleries; a remodel of portions of the grounds; a 850 square foot expansion of one of the galleries; and
a 950 square foot addition to the front of the building for ticketing operations. The request involves property that is
located in a W-2/”Water-Related” and a C-2 “Tourist Commercial” zone. The property is located at 2820 SE ferry
Slip Rd, Newport, OR 97365 (Tax Map 11-11-17-00, Tax Lots 101, 298, 1600, and 1900; Tax Map 1 1-1 1-17-AC,
TaxLots 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, and 1001; and TaxMap 11-11-17-DA, Tax Lots 300, 301, and4Ol). The
applicable criteria per NMC Chapter 14.34.050 are that: 1) The public facilities can adequately accommodate the
proposed use; 2) the request complies with the requirements of the underlying zone or overlay zone; 3) the
proposed use does not have an adverse impact greater than existing uses on nearby properties, or impacts can be
ameliorated through imposition of conditions of approval; and 4) a proposed building or building modification is
consistent with the overall development character of the neighborhood with regard to building size and height,
considering both existing buildings and potential buildings allowable as ttses permitted outright. Testimony and
evidence must be directed toward the criteria described above or other criteria in the Comprehensive Plan and its
implementing ordinances which the person believes to apply to the decision. failure to raise an issue with
sufficient specificity to afford the city and the parties an opportunity to respond to that issue precludes an appeal
(including to the Land Use Board of Appeals) based on that issue. Submit testimony in written or oral form. Oral
testimony and written testimony will be taken during the course of the public hearing. Letters sent to the
Community Development (Planning) Department, City Hall, 169 SW Coast Hwy, Newport, OR 97365, must be
received by 5:00 p.m. the day of the hearing to be included as part of the hearing or must be personally presented
during testimony at the public hearing. The hearing will include a report by staff, testimony (both oral and written)
from the applicant and those in favor or opposed to the application, rebuttal by the applicant, and questions and
deliberation by the Planning Commission. Pursuant to ORS 197.763 (6), any person prior to the conclusion of the
initial public hearing may request a continuance of the public hearing or that the record be left open for at least
seven days to present additional evidence, arguments, or testimony regarding the application. The staff report may
be reviewed or a copy purchased for reasonable cost at the Newport Community Development (Planning)
Department (address above) seven days prior to the hearing. The application materials (including the application
and all documents and evidence submitted in support of the application), the applicable criteria, and other file
material are available for inspection at no cost; or copies may be purchased for reasonable cost at the above
address. Contact Derrick Tokos, Community Development Director, (541) 574-0626, (address above).

FOR PUBLICATION ONCE ON FRIDAY, OCTOBER 18,2019.

26



MS69LJJH‘IDUWpauIoddueaqsquospsqeisuawssass
SHICi.3DJ’ELN3aMesEqssiqjiInp:-o6u

INOH-lHIIVOVL9CSON3H!:aoHNOEJIU!siAdoidapqSUO!-MOIjOIe116u&qwnsps -pdea(OU!UUEId)uaw-WES!MU!QN3AISpewslopisippesodsioqSENVCNV3>IVIS00CM-edsuiAdojdonpuo‘sqEEdpusenpAesip .....-doISsaQ!UflWWODaqASHHSI33110NscU!SJSUMOeBW!4PEP1S‘V00:6GbNV013dO9oPEMOIIE!AiEiieSSJflDBSpSSpSflJ
(S01U8SSJG3S76u!JESq3Itt8LOSd6ONSSE3-do.tdoSWSWSSSSSEoinoqsqEOOI9/dO3DNVISIGV3Nfl-uaqai°NPUSSflJ1sqsiuoE6iIqosquo -ge)ooISSUnODl-qndeqossjnooaipSuiUOSSflLAJLfleqEz!13USSrçqpisdeqopasodoiduo5M•LOC6oPUENOLLD3S9/H1NOjopeajeiuopsEsOulMo -USOQUESSSV-JnPUaIEsqjMAUOW39E53MO.IM4EMaeSSor6U!Jssu!6u5-.J°d096#JS!qA7d91S3M30N3HL9swssip03wunsndc.eajsisqsiqnep PJeJa•M/S/•‘E-LVL-seU8qMpUSAUOWflSsU:IN3M;HVdSOPUSUO!40flflSUODOtI-wnloDMS!S5JPPENOILOSdOH3IHVflOjsqpssispssqSSsaidUOSESJ ON1ENSJOSSBSSVUOEJQ•WJolEJOJoUSOUM3IVBOUdN100NI7O•oLttS5!P51OJJssoq‘dODNOOISV3HIflOS3H1JOosjAus!‘SSJSUIU!iosusssssAodws Qoc307XESEUMOUNU!AUOWIS5!wqnS•anSs!ALNflOD3H±W0JNOSjosoopsswsaszjviosssnpau!s31NVflDISYSHIHONsiosssoflssAqoadEsisssnjopu AIUOWWOcS!PUS‘ssJSMLIIUDpassq(sEsddVio9OdO3LV±S3H1dO:pSSSsqosoj-punstqiEiflUsA!65!3H1dO3NOD1SVisqspnpU!ME!3susq,,AJsIo4euaqsqAqpied 1P639961Eq6nopeossUE7sqo6U!INflODIIflOHID3H1NIpSEWISsoIxsAqass3!OUO5JO11M-HIflOS3H1IVONINpussssrnT.SPIOMsqsPSJJflDUIS55.10/pUS 5100d405P!SSsS8Muo-pnpui)eaddeUSSSPflIDSNOSUd1S]1NISSPflPUIPUSPEONJS5sni;opssaLpoSU0!N1035SMO77OSVpuspeepsnip!SSiquawsnqspsSo3IS P5W3OI!UMEIPqIIMsq-s.iosnssiE1fl0pUOdSaJ0130110NMSLE0pE0jpJep-!PUODPUSSWJ5sqoOSINDS3GA7V]flDIIpsinsssioiqjosouewJaMs6ol‘So 0pssodoid‘.isdojdeqjo‘4!Ufll.10dd0US555J5djwoijsaoouensindAieIDi4susqsifi-Vd3NOVJSNIA1NO-.1ojsdsipUoie6iqoUSu580.151431I •9OLt?,9suoqdaipUSApsiP.10J450to-t’)A(q6nOJsumMepunoqAqPSDUUAPESUnSAUESSOdfldAVMGVONbUIM0uosisdisipoAusJoidsnid6O ‘ggc:csU065J0U°5NI3IJ!35dSU5IOJSS1MMON9O91.0•I.EEc-9L1iPeopeMSpusssoiSJflS0I35J0bOlINaM3SV33/uSsshEMSEioUEi6sioW045 •owoou455.145IIOsnss!US5515.10JflIISd-9•O9L6NOU05IsAy.40JSHMS40S5M•555jS554SflJlIEUE-070X3-NONNVHUM1S5JsU!U!JOSSBDQflSAUSnssquis4USwISd SSMSISSUflOD1S697U0!S!Dsp91130AldUso-PUSd5VUOUOO9SPUSlflflOSAIIU.1SUSSs!p1.145jp5EIPSSJDDSlIEN3N13501DNINNIS3SSOPflIDU!iouei6pioAIqUOWPUS6 0SD!J40I-II0pspsjipsasaisqUOSJsdsqqDIMdliMEN‘151A8-spposodo.1dsqoAisSnId‘piedIflUfl6LOSl/IOJNIOU3flNI3H±01sq‘IE.1flI5111SSPflIOUInqsuoJ•LOQEO’LS sqAewJSSWlqq4U!S5UEUIP.106UI3uswsIdwl55.1035NJfl0QdM.0-pUflOq5qJSa!JDpUflO9woWSUUSsd%g9Jo9537O3IJOMLS3dJEIflSUISsipJ5fl5USIflownssqusciswAd -pie6isuoissnpiesqS!pususiaAIsUaqaJd-WIJJS/691.66VM5IIIDiJsiaP9MSsssqsU0S]5Lfl4S5J5U!99SNI9N0110359/PUS9U!U!W551flSBPflIDUIAILflU0VJ:swns6UiM0II0 sqpUSisaddeAewsuos-wojsqUII51!Jisqo-241N15U0SI3S5SQOOAJ5SIIIM45111.i5MSS1(151tflIM.45q550oocst€S3H-LONQ7VA7H31SVispUsSsujposswsqUUMAcUosin -.150p53S5J5U!IV•U0SiO10esoqspsq!iosepEI5dsHSisdAIIEUVMC-!uEssinsssidMOlPUSA1/ounsledinUidsqSUI30N3H±•NI1N0110355350US!1flDUIflJSU03UI-I!SS,J0USJ6 JodMsNU!455.5OA!IO-JD9i/PiEM0p5D5i!pIflEd6ON3SO!OO-neiSsoS!SU0OSU5W-pnpUiaIqAedPUS5fl9/91-U.NO135]dldeM/woosAsUioSoitdeqs5JflSOIO5JOIflI.piCIMJ0 S°MSSWPMD0IssnoqsqisnwSDUSp!A9PUSpsqsIlqndsiiUS5EQ-s0idwipesodoidsqjAI5SIPSWW!4srn.j10P550NOUINVNV3>V±SMMMspsqsMs,sssnisfc)sscgeS545 -i,iflOQASUnODUIODU!]AUOWIISS±N6!nops•ASU]04E5144.105555155S:uoqd!iosaOpiswsAoidwlsqAqpsinsssuo5S5qoDOOM.G10,NV01sipesIqElIsseOSIESI-iespssissUOSSJQo sinjosowoosS!Oi14M-iiwiadsssnSE5ISM0IIV-sidsiISUOSJSUaq‘ino•AUIOOU!10IIDsoIIP5JEPPSOIl‘I5J3dOE9[NDIID3SUOqEW1OJUIP!qJPUO13UsnsindpopioisiUssq ‘w00SOUSJS4UOQSiss&!pI;nqIE!W50dPUS5fl40SP.400SJ1IIWOJIssuepUnoqSipU!1441MII-Usqsq1InJaPsI.P40i03NI71SV3H!01piqenoeJoP5MW!S54Ij5PosoqOuS -U0!SSIWWOQ0p.15099143s6UIppnq6U15SIXSqioq&iU0ISWi0U!IEU0!!PPSpeojP.155MSU0555uosssi/6t’9PL$777VHVd‘A71i]HiflOSSiOPUSIeoSUIUJSOUODPUS55jSn4P!Aq UIVVOC6w6O•9-i8piSUOOW5I914PUSSzISUieqoAewSSUipSSOOid-jadoidoSUswsAoidwi:ddoAVuoi038Ifl0330N3H1L33d993N17U0EWJ0UIii5JIU0SU0i5E5Iq0sip J5PWSAONU0UOISMdap5Upinqopiesjp3IMsqiAqpssesqiewJBMBSDfl4SU004DIJSIQ7yIQLOt’69S53SSN0I.LD3S9/[31-Il01IIIMA3JsdoidpslqnssqU!AsissoAUsdoid5 SO5uiisqo!IqnaSPflPpooqioqq6IsU5iJOJ5DES516!J5S0MSUOSIBdIV4uawssoidwlIS°7S40-uisjopsi;nbsIE017STTVUVU&7N31S3M4S5JS3U!sIqeSnbio15651piessipIIS0PSD5IS -UODPMP.15095P1i!J-.151104uswdolssspIIEJ5°p5JJqsqAewSWISIDU0!EWi0i5iSU0O046UiS53UEAPVAJS!D30N3H1I3do9LpjosiouSU!5514suosisdsssnPUS,iSi -!CIOOd0P9I0JM55J5sipflMU5S!SU0OS!U0!si5°5O!0USqjOU0-j5io!IqndePlOPhIM/IO-55U55Q5:ss6iSqN011035slO3N17ISV3MElISJP51PIMS3!IU0Dissqsqtpo895L6 sipWOJ15J5d0J0sipMeip-SDiJ!pOW5uppnqJo6UI-S3!IqndSJ!J09Sp5113UIO3U!10IlDUflODXPOSillswicoi1t’[‘VSI5013H1017311VIVd‘A1DISflUs3OdosnM0sqoAI3MP6IH -pPM0UEWWS>5EIIEM-PI!nqpssodoide(1’PUSSLflUOWin0Ju!qpMmmUSAI6XqsisqS!5350NItO/tO/6O-6O/O-HJJION3ONSHIONINUMO14SSS5JPPSssoTsniflJ0NOt’59SVNMON)I WOJIU05350SpsA!BDSJISSOiddEJOSU0!!pU030O8L6NOU05IPU5d8NODSdOA.LIDN700NI7:ssSO:SuswSd4Usnb-NIDO9dOINIOU3fl111sqo‘psssnbei3disosiA7NOMMODObIuuiSsq 551]SJ5UOISSIWWODJoU05SOUWIq6no.1qlpseiX0S•Od:S5A!E4U5S5JOVOHONVSMSIDIHI-ulIsosunsUIM0II0sip3H1.01.L33d93N17UJI-pSJlIeupsws‘ssiiuiodsr.sipoisI P.1505AjunoDUIODU17sip-0iswSsques1edw!-dsiISuoSJsdsipowsip-5101N3LAJ3AOdLSJI‘nedo5JflI!SNOIIO3S9/3H1SJIAaicAi8A!I8pISUOSjssoooo‘ise 1510U5A!6Aqsiap5!5DPONJoSsipsdoidAqJESUU0iusssidoipsiinbsisieTVOOYdclNOIJW!dOsiouSJ6SISPEWSIONO1VA7H3IS3MONI-jsXqisLfl!S98L99,soSop69Pi-°N ONIHVH:033110NSSSn6U55!XOuepissi59M4S55141)SUiESESWISIDN1VH3178fld0srnsOps.1015i4i!!i4WJO)-flNIINOO33N3H1•O0I—S40I1SU/SUSWusi:SUiUUiSsqoUiod oSdw!5Si5ASUSsAELU!AEqSUOSJSdIVDIL0NIflSI3P5LU.tc)scsNOHINVONV3V1S-sE4SU!ShI,S,55SflJ51flwoi3SSM.05 (o-cs)40UEsOpSEnpseodOinSIBJOaA5S5JsSsidsJIouensindpspioosiDOOM..O70NV01opesssipps‘anS4seipos69qrnossisq CON9508LQ1.0/UI0Osq(eSUOZiSIJ5A0JO-uosisdP54U!oddSussq

t-L6)srL1.0usaqssp5iI30UpUSSn.i1L33d095dOSONVISIDVqpSs!IdWOOSIgsnbsiUiodcoo -U!I/AUfl0D/DJ0S5ISSSj4!SUOZÔU!AIJSpUflsqoSEPM0I5P5WSUUOSJ5U
1°AJO4SU10P5505P1AqpainissPNflNOIJD]S91./[H1Usq!JMEU!P8ED!UflWW0ASM405461,1AI.1MSSSpIES -JsqSuo6sJoMMW//:d4pSUsW8i!flb5iaLpI1PW1flS1flUSA!5Sqsisp

-OSP5Z!iOtflflVSOI!W0QSUOIIE6IIqOapAissisoNOA7N3IS3MSDN3HIAIsw!eqisnw68L98SUoleov..V‘P 010SI!S)sp5)0WJ0SSiIUWOD3SsnbsJsip(5!SDPONtPsSSBDeO)51151.159E00-C6-990,ciiadoidpsqposspNOD3IdOAINflODoPUS99995JQqpSQUBlfl.Q[ .PUSPU!NDSP°S,J5IqSSDsSflpssodoidsipsspSIHAIISUVOMIAJSLIDoog-os-5UOL4d-ssoqssipII04P50515N700N17NINVI0INMoUSnsindpssanbeiASWqSIseouo5sij 10LISSOJ0J.1spp!qssq5!q-owwooeAIs4SflbsPeE$SSPUN7IAi5IDJo
05L6IO‘PUSflJOU“P55jS15q1pUSAiil3LSiY!7IM‘ISOMssonbpoSediouewoSEW0t6UAP5 sIPOjUOflOflED!IqndsS!USDS55I!3SD!IqndsiSWS3L9t’L0Bd6ON056#55J5S!qunIoQ-Sp!JsUsq5111ifl05VNSDNVNHIflOS8UIHS-5S3SUI51451flUsA!5iaoSSSIJOWOW

SP1±(s)uSpUssp995L6t[:eipamososvciIUIOOU9JDAUn03sin
MS[dNODNODM1US9OSiSjSIISM:s!AJS!3-NMOI9NOIIDOSdO-injsi53140NSLL99SNOssjoooo4SSMos J0‘LIDSsB1fl09TS-dq0OMNioUeussIJoi0JUOD5JO0sE5sip
NVd1O605/S/6:psSQ-IsU5qU5JJfl351119CL6NPINVflOISVSHIflOSpeAqPBP!AOidsunowe.oo69qinossousip

19LLOSassssUMoU)aIqe!IddSsq;fo’PUEOpnoPflOJ!D‘-PUIissisuiU!SJOSHONOV30N30N37DPHIdON3INVflO15V3sip6U!PSSOXSOUS5Sooo‘ss,.z IUOWWOOAisdo]dLOS0055407X5j•VO-LLSN0Sd31S31NI-ssnsSSi3sdSsJjisipiIfl0OsSE-NfliON3H1dONSNs,AswoepussssjseePJONouiuuidsq IS5I:siflU!E5i5UIJo-I.-ttdeMEelPUS:L0001.OIL0Napnoui,,cSsusq,PUSUMOUIIAIUOWWOO00-HODISVSHIflOSSHI-sniJ5I.55601paspoU!Odsoppisswoi Ufl55!4N5!NAus6u!pUSsos009OOL009554SfliSPJOM510WflJJ.-0L00-V0-9VLL-RO//JVDNINNIDStuo6ioisniPUSU0556!IqOsippqpUISISq -W!EIDUMOUPUfl5flSd009•0OtS07XE;DVf9[-0’)9O‘5JOp!.p40P550Sip.cqpeinsPPS6SSU:NUVSNIN•A4UnODUIODURUIPMEflPSSU!DJOJU5UIpsiiflDU!MISPUSIODEJ4514OSUIU 10SUOSJSd.15150IVPIN-LVI--[dEM51006L-SIPqMMMJOS09VtL9S!IDNMOsUsw.iojisd-NIS3HdOINIOdPflNIAUsdoid150.1psqusspsssusdxspussso-u6sqoU!odsnpsipo :flSajflSSUO!53OIIO!psJDPUSO09965S307-[VS3ipU03UO!35un04U!sipuoISoiIqoUS6U!WoSHI0;SSP7NOPIJOMSU!MOIIOJSiflSiOAODP3!IINIIS5ui5sdSqNflS15P1fl05695S5MSUS UO55JODliOU!PUnd;00-CV[V[denjISUOS!PPSJOd±DISI0suosisdisiqoSUESE115WJ33993N11NOI±DSuWOA4UflOQUIODU!1sinoôMSSS000U50115WIflJONSOUSIII PLIEIp!MssnbsUSIVxJ995C6U0‘iOdM5NHI7V3HSMIINflPJMQDSS.iouw6sipipsispspip-;ONO7VA7b!3°SPiO5IE!3IJJO5144-iopsdsipOuuspusiioS3IV13ONV1HSIHJO .SA(S)jJiJuiEIdAUSdWOQPHd!ISMJJ350585JEOIdIDVd15P005NOUIJOSSSDDflS,cusSspnpul±SV33DNSH±.3NI7U!‘t’996E00ONJU5WSunSP!SS6U!ISdouopMId15051O510J5WO Spj!qSI7PS4!Wfl5JSMS50P5553015!AJJsOoidap;SS!7/5/SJiOdsiASI!°UJ,i0JUSJ5,,P.10WSipNOILD3S9I.R*11NO1i1SUISE005/0Sfl[-ppEU!OUSp55SnJJ1SSWTfl0S514JUIsqSUIIJ
V077SU!01AJ55ISPUSU•sUOZ,,ISIO]sWW0151puSsiodsi!S!DUUUIISsJn-OldS5PflIDU!JSIflSU!S0111JI5OdidNONINVGNV£005/L/IioSUOIJSS!Iqosipispun-uiSsqJOJUIOdPIES‘USI
-!d!4iD‘559051SIJ5WflU-iflOJ,,5-3EpUS.PEIN-U!W6U!JssWS5PflIDU!‘ionsusippus5U!UiWaJSW;SDOOM.070.NV‘S!0!J5U5SSEpsi!nbsis3uSwiojisdsip-pIJSMSOSWEIIIM51flJO 5553Ji5035I4995L6-5JEM,J-MSU!35JSnOISPU5SESUIJ5SW514;pS5PflIDU!ipus5su!IOD01J3]dos9LNOIlONI3DVDthJOLN3MOH6iiuspusAqpsin6u!sqJS5MLS5UEJ‘no I:JD‘P0550JO5‘ISXIJSJipisdoidSeSIOSU!U065J0JJOUMBN‘154S-SEWSiflsD!JOUS!i4JSU!-059dO3NflLSV3SHLODUVdS77SMJOi0ASJJOsIqEdsoS!EiflU!sisqdipsUMo;‘95UOIJD5S J935955:sSuoujJssnbeisq;‘SuoqeisdoipMSOVLisPSJEDOI-WJSUOOUIalEss,saJsnpQJTT17VNVd‘A7SU!ssJSnij55‘ANVdMODJOP8US1dWODDflSJPpisusnbsssipioijsip AIUOWWODAsdoidIS5SU!JSNOIJJOJ6U!pI!nqan‘UoiJSunppPJIEHJOJ9qJE5isdoidS!iflJOJ-HIflOS]DN3H±I33dDNVHflSNI31;I;lvieqioAusuIinoSqpusJOiSJJEnb3SSWPflOss; sipU!‘UO!JdWspOJ01JOJUOJJsipoUO5PSJ54U53Sip45wdo0:tpqSQEIdoSU!p!OSP09‘NI7N0110399[/-N0I.LVNA117301dOJ(psi.1noDoJIflEJOPOUp514JOJEUJODIS5MI4JflO9sip psqns‘P105sqII!MMJOOJWEflbSosespussaJS605‘L5isqopo‘PsioJsqisSuepISPU5JOd3H10173I7VNVU‘A7HOJOJUEJOA.LONIIN3anpsquspipupnoJSÔuIUuI6OS:SMOIIOJSE -JSJU!SJUEpUsJspXJ-J5IIE5sipJOOUOJOUOS-UOJSJU0SU!JssJnJieInSsNsipO5.15555sqPIflOPS-!S3ADNPH1iP3dH1ASSINVNPISVsISd!ouudsipJOUO!JpaqIjpAIJSIflDIIJSd ‘uOSWO‘iodMsNJO4!3-iedxsJOOJsisnbsseP101-IIIIMSiOJOsiiJO,JJsdOJdIS!Juap!SsiJOOL9NOIIDPSdOIHS3VIOINIVdONV-jodqonSUEJisqJo)snpSuIoq‘11055.10b sipui‘505WN‘155A!IO:spuno.MaqJOSUOIJJOUpisooipsiPUSSH555sissspwndsA!J3sdSoJdPNI7.LSVSHI017P7JSI307ANN3CAqunows5J14U5sipJOAislo-unoUIOOUI7U!‘USIpU5M M955°°!JJOSJJ!i5N5JOI5POW5.1SS5IJ5IIS4!-!UflWWOOD!JIOEdsq;D!xoJsqOJUMOUII5.10-7VHVdA73H±NON(dEW;JO55Q,,-!JsusqSipo6Ui’sdXqs3SWSIIiM515JOJSM AIUflOQUIODU!7sipJS-qlqXsUS‘SO‘,qqoISLflDILONOI]SfldqD!LIMJOXJUSUOdWODlEDSDNSNIDNINNIO3S5pJ)PPSfliJU!SpsDP5JEJSU!5JP&5PJSSJJ5145s6usI‘iJjflO59dipSuMo; “W.S0020LJOmopsqissU!AI!iEWIid‘DU!PI!nqUEW-!WsqD515‘SSU!WSJsiIddOINIOdflHIPHI‘-flospEwS!5UiUEPaSSIWSIPSuIpasDOid•9 6L05‘PWJSqW5AONU0OqJJOISPOW5J)OOJS]EflbS

teL-WSqJSW6u!inDSJnusw01.i3P5553N0NOII-JsNSOt’S..ONUSO7SJflSOIDSIOJS!N15ASNOJPUSIJO4SiJVAJisdOid L6#37VS009flS5PflIOUIq!iIM-)lIeu-sJO‘95-966UI8XflussqsseqAEWsc/cH1ONO7VHO-LSLVSO°NSJO7VSsleSSqJ.104ipXiSSI515PIEipsqusp5uIWOIIOJ SHSiO33110NWflUSflbVJSSO3UO65ieP!5HsitmpdsJ5ISSXssJSn.IJSJSPIOSA7d0J.SdMONIflNLLNODODI.L0NS.S3ISflNIsipsiosqSSSpssijUEIJJqJ6U!lsAO3ss SUIJSIX5sip5JEAOU5JOJJasui5ujbID6U5OSipODApsdoidISPUSP!S5iSWOSDN0H1.0DbNOHI7VSJ0331.LONisjsournisup,ueISpsqlaDSspSUIWOIIOJ
(9V65)eco(ssoqspwisdssnISUOIJ!PUOOq6nâiqiP5AI95isqUSOJSI.fl5D5OUS!IJJU!JSJSNVONV3>V1S00DMS.31Sfl1JE‘SJS!XsJq6!Jsip4SJqJSUUSAOOSE‘(s)oLgn SS5JPPEI‘9590-tL9tI.l’)JOJ‘SDUEU!pJOU!UOUO!JSWJOJUIISUOII!PPVOJ55JSflJJsipSsJ!flbsi.010..NV01135J09581199SdOUpsweuUOSsoqpOUIJSPssKmiuie ‘iOJOsi!QJU5WdOI5A5OAJJJOdM5NSIPJO,,S5SflpsqsMXJIOsip!S!AMElUOSSJOSs5USJJSMJOdOSONVISIDV3N17(o-t’s)0N-isdSUPOSuss!5J5iJIJflJJUsssidsipsi

-!UflWWOD‘50)10;NOPJSOP54SI5I-i5JSMUSlUspSSSsId‘JDsloidP!iJs!oSUO!JEJU5S5JdSJJOJ5WISN0IJ.3PS9fl3H±NOA7550BLOLLO£9595t-6[5!5DPONJJsipSqUO!JISIflb3VsSIJ°MUSO JOipUOQSSsJppSaAOqS-U5d5C-isJSM/09050JuswsAoidwI5301paSod-SipS,B5JSflJJSip6u!Jiw!INPISPMDNH±NODS’5‘5V99-056-008-[56.151405ISU0SS51S6UI-iopj‘cooo-oosON sqlesoosqsuoseeiJOJUOIJO5isO(S!4E1UsS5J-oidsipuoUO!JEWJOJU!JnOifl!M5155JOJJSSJSSI-PNO‘/JNflODN100NI7ssiJ-IIOJ‘5955-095(095)-PflIDU!‘5155JOssSusdxsw5W4SUIUI‘UOSSJQ
peseqoindsqAswsaIdo3-dsipszuoi.pne‘605L6J5i5Jfl3iO6U!JEsq6L05JSPSLflSJOJ5SISfIsspNINVI0IdPLLMV1sUOqdSIaI‘SM/WOSAsUPUSSJSODSIP.PUBpsiWisS‘bUnooUIOOU!7JOSpioosi JOJSODOUJSUO!JOSdSU!I0‘PUSIJJOd‘JSA5UJSS)J‘gieqoQSL4JJEIPUflODUSifl]5JSIlOU5W5!USJE-JIMIS3MDNVH-iOflEOi!dEqS’MMM59996AqSJSIIJSUO!JSSIIqO6uoôs5e6iowsipui•0O‘
JOJSIqEI!SASsiIS!J5JSWMNL265iD5JIPDiVA1!O515OJSJUSWWODUSJsm;JOP5G‘-!JJsPUfl‘HIflOSSdIHSNMOI9VM‘J5AnODUSA‘9955!flS-5JOJ51bSIJSS‘J‘P55PkisniqsP5P]OD5J‘005 I!JJWJJOpUS‘S!.1suJDsq

SUSS)4PUOW.15UEQ-1MJO15.10sP!AO)dAewPsi!flbsisDuSwJoJJsdsipN0I1OSdONPIUVflO°Id]SJUS3LJD5355EWJP!SJOUO!JflDSX5‘/snu5rpsisp‘/uSIOIJS
-EDIldaSsip‘(UOIJSWIdOS‘pUOWi5SUSOsss9)uösjadAUVSU!iEsqsipJESU!JSpU5JSqPflSJOCJOISVPHIWON3H1dO66t’essni;ioSss3onsip.1SJJSpsjinboeSs.1spJ!SWSU‘SUSISSE
SLIJJOJJOOdnSU!P513!W9ELilO‘iodMsN‘PNJOUflODbIDOJPSP!A0]d5350NPJUIJOPSUISIdHNHODISV]H±AOSDli‘ONV9NSHIflSU!S1OSS5DDflSSiIJJOJOUEsiosssDDnssJ!‘thoD -qnSsouspssPUSSJUSWa!I9fUi5d35055‘Un!sqII!M6[O5‘55isqopo-WODJIflEJSPJ5PJOAUSSU!PHIIVDNINNID3S:55OHIUVHS605/6/6-usi5sipqD!qMJS5iSJU!GSSSJJOJSJs6p!JqqussM -SOOPIIPUSUO!JE3iIddS-iSnbVJSSO3UOD5JOSqJ5JJSP5AI5JSJUSWWOD-.inoJJUE‘SO5JSSBU]OJJSOSSIdDS0A73JVH:pipE4qspsJOJsqAUSiJJP55LJJ5O‘psspJOJAI5IOS sinSUIPflIOU!)SIEIJ5JUWpspIWqnSJSsnbsiS•6U5B!JM•JsilDEdIPUflODPUSS,S5JSflJI‘SJSOOSip-flOOV3NOVJONIN-!I511uoSisdnoAPlOPJSS4P!SSJOUO!Jfl0555sifl-JOE’‘OUI‘SW5J5UOIi UO!JS3!IddSsp;SUUS5IJdfl09ON5I!iIJSP!SUOObID54U!PSPflPU!sqPPMJSqJSOO(psJJn030-NID9i0INIOdPflaL.10SSOUPSJq5PUI6uIpuSjSJO5WIJ51.5JEAssUoooo!uoiosI3 sqiOJJO!idSASpUSA5SOJsisqweqIIDUnOD1151-Io6[055isqopUoIIflSJPOUpeqsnpsqPH!01SSS7NOSHOVJ-JflOsip05110003JdWspSJ5MOdPEpJOSSioipSi6-ioJO.10554U!‘S5JSflI; (ssOqSsssippe)JUSWbID5iJU!wdoo:s45UOONApDUIJ!JMU!P5J4!WUsipJOUPIflOMJSJ15dbJ.3053NflNOLLD3SUSsqOJpsni4suoDsqsipLIDipMAisdoid1E5J‘AUSdu0QWOJDS5
JiEdsO(SU!UUSId)usw‘S0595JOJ3O‘AP-qnssqsnwsuswwo-uudJOUO!JiOdsipUSJ9/3H107ST7VNVdJOUlISPSSip!S6U!P55OP5qIJ3S5PPssipU!E5spi;W5IS5MOJJOJUWO

-dolsssOA1!UflWWODUod-UOSJUO6U!JEsqu1IqndSipUOW54!JSJ!Jisino)snpU5UJJUflOWS‘A7NP.LSVS3DNPHI-ojdA3JdmuSqqSflOiqJ-isUisipqseJOJisppqeSOSC6NO‘550‘[0 M5N5iflJSJSOOsISUoSSPlOPIIIMUO!SS!WWODsipsqouII!M6UIJE5psinussipJOMS!D!JsUsq±30:158t‘9NOIID]SApedAusAqpsUISJqoJSSP6NBLJJOJUOIJOflSO!I,SMq’IHPONXI -55.1JOJpsSSIjDJndAdooSSU!UUSIdJJOdM5NJO1Jj33!Iqnd514JPUS‘6U!J55W5qJOJJUswASdSqipEJSdOPNI71SVPHI0±ussqSeq56JSPDS!pSJI-qndJE1155‘UO5iOJOjpp5SOM‘USAIJS5 JOP5MS!A5JsqAEWpods]5P.L±HOUMqN110iaioIIOUflODb!DP5IflP5POS-U!5JJSflJJJO55Q557P7TVNVU‘A1HHIW0NssodindeiqJOJp5Sfl5JEJ5UIODu!7JOAJUnO3IPUSJScqSPEW55 J4SJSsq1uoqSD!IddeNIVH3I7flddOXPSIfl6S1sS!IU).UOSpUsP5SX!WE!PSUIP5530JUSONPHIU3d56‘qNI7sqII!MpsU!SJqOUO!JSW‘O‘JJOdM5NJOboU!JSn.psJOSWISJSipispun sip6UIP]U55iAUOW!JS5J33110N-sic‘boUIODUrJOOld5JflSOP5JOJsinsssiONOLLDOS9[/[3H101-JOJU!AUSUS‘JqspS‘5!I0JS5M955JSP5EOOIpsjinooseq1IflJPV JO‘SJUswn6iE‘suspissPiE‘VOLSSMPS!HMSN5!JsIPseq95)999Q717VNVdA7N3ISySP51105OJdwspuussisSn0qJJnO5JUn03UIODivso33110N ISUOP!PPEJUsSsidipSi(Ep(to-It’)0N09‘sisqwsqIPqflODUIP5WSUUOSJ5JAUEisqiPDN9H±iPPd059tXPIISU!MOIIOJSip5JSJS-UrJsiposoueiusuisw
U5A5SJSESI45iOJusdoso81.09995-995(LI’S)A3!D53EIU•.AJdUsA!6J5IJJJflJ5!53flON‘55NOI±DPSdOPNITISVSSWJEJsi!nbsJJ°V535L1IJS‘ouzsoSq
}jsIsqpJOO5JsipJEJJO‘595L6NO‘U0dMBN‘O[S00:9‘5U555J5JIPUflOD&4!O-JsniJsipSqs5jsqosISPH!0173J7VNVd‘A9NP-DEidUO!JD5IIODqsaJ!SdpspS!IqEJS55W!4pip
Dii!iSsqD!Iqnd54JJO5USX05Od‘3d‘SJJ500EH‘J5W605‘85isqooo-UOSS5JSSU!pnlou!‘5ISS-H±HONSDN3H±i3isqisiesssssnisip-usssqJppMpioosU!
-nUIJUODSJEsnosiSewS!UOPUES‘JOU!LAJ‘e85086#‘AspuoM5JEOUO!4JOEssusdxsPUSSJSOD96t‘3NI1N0I±D3S9[/e7psdoidSIIJJJOJP!q‘iuMVoo:oJOiflOsipNOINd SU!1S5143!IqndISP!U!PJ590‘A1J5SSSHUS!J5‘5AP-EWJOJU!6U!JS5H3IqnusinpuspsinssSqsisi.q3H±01lTllVdVd‘A7N3soSIdoSU!pPspsiOJsqJS‘0505‘55MSflUEtuo
JOUOISflIOUOOsipOJi0!i0-SJusssidsisuosisdsqsSsdisdusrjOsJOEUO!156!IqO6U!OSSJOJsip-±S3MSONOHI13di5USpS!JusJoOS!IJIJOII!M5SJSOiJpsUS!SispuflASflj
uosisdSus‘(9)E9L•L6JOJSA5WOJJEapIio‘s!JSOOSJEpSUeJqosqSewbS!JSSOJ‘55W;JOP50OV‘9LNOI±DSdO3N175J5M5sqPIflOPSAisdoidsipJELflUsA!65!Aqsisqwdo:ç 5150OJ5USflS]fljUO!SS!W-SJUGS5JU5JISUOSJ5dSipiodsisipJOSsIdoD•(SiosipJOUO!4fl5X55IflJSJ4EISV3H1017377VVdISSUSPIS5JJOSJsSEqWndODOU‘PNOdPN3HM -WOD5U!UUSIUsipSqUOIJiflOOsipJOSPJO5iXLJ)A4IuIo3u!IMwsUSOsMP5J!nbDS4S5iB4uIU!SlOEA7H3HLHON]ONH1sA!psdSOidO!XOJsqsu5isssioEJU5BEss
.S.iaqqsppUSsuoiissnbWOIJUO!JEWJOJUIISUOPS,XJIDUIOUj7UOs6sd-ssoonsSRJJOJOJUSJSsipjjou‘Ni7NOIIOSSOJUMOUIj5.15LIO!PMJO-SojdwsJ!SIJ1‘ssJSfl4JO

DJ4 US‘JUSO!IddEsiflAq-!PPSU!EIqOSSWSSUIp5SDSNJOMO!IqfldSipi5flUflIJO!PMSSsiSU!SUS1431W9[/tPHi.0177]VNVdSJu5UOUWOOIED!W5iID‘lJ/PiIEb5!0!JsUaqsipSq
-Jnqsi‘UOIJE3IIddSsipoi-oidsipSqP5JD5JJE5pswsssqOSISSwJiodsi.isqJs6oJ‘JEWJOPOA1NP.LS]M30N3H1‘SSU!WST5LJdWEiJJ5WSUIP!SdJOP5JJflOUIS55JJO
pssoddoJoJOASJU!5EOIJJ55wS1/4DU55011WSUOSJSO5QL‘b!DUIODU17.95psJnDsXs1!5WIJ51JJL33d595‘9LNOIIDSS-iflipEJflUEWippsEnussq/PUSsswssinqippNOPId PUSJUSO!IddSsipWOJIIVpsiisqsqSewswisio55Mq6!NMS[08‘JU5W45Sssuoo04iswoddO3NI7±SV331-I!01sAEiJSswSIESSS5JSflJJ‘SISODuS143/MisiflSSOJ4(psJnq; (usIJpMpUS15.10qJoq)5144JOP4UE!iIJJOU09-lJSdsOSNJOMDIhcindSlIDJOP514JOJuEJ5514440114W7P77VNVUA7H3HIflOSE45P105SlisdoidISIJU5P‘SSOUSApE.10106’C58$JO
SuOW9SsJ‘3JEJSSqiodsi-SO!uqnd45J!JJO5JE5144UIOOUI7514445psMs!AsJSsdojdI55Psq!JSsp]DN3HI•9NINNID3S-!E5J5UOS454453flOUWflS5144SSICf‘IWSSSSJOwdoo:c PflI3U!IIIWuussqsq;J5445S44UOWJflOJU!q4!MsqSEWJJS4S54wSq-ssoqS5144U!355.154111dOINIOddflEhI314101S!44UI5454504554SflJ451444LIflOWS5144U!555.15140515!:uoqp] Suussqojjqndsqw61-0L61-Ic‘Uoipuspoppsiedsidpus1-LOS‘Jsqsipf11osqoEJ5I4ESOJO133d001dO3DNVISIDS5J!nbsiMElUo5siQ‘SIlp55.1035JOIJdsnud‘6105 Suowl1ss4ouunpps4UsS-OLip‘655XO9Od45554-OIOQP5JE.J°!4S!OJUSWSPUflJp5!J!PsO)luslEsInbaV3NflNOIID3S9[/-USJJEWJOsuo!hElusssJdsJ‘isqwsdsWOJJwnUuspseupa -sidAIISUOSJadsqsnw-SlusseidsiIsuOssdsip-sAOJdwllEDolpsopJSp4SSOJOWJOJsqU!iPPHIHJIM7377VNVdJO.1swISIos!pssssni5145Jad%95’9JOSJEJsql4E
ioSUUESI15144jO3JSdSS05p51405145SJ5I43OOAql!MMSUO!IEWJOJUJ535!Oid-p!q55546114514504uo!4‘A7HPIS]MPDNPHI6UIIIWIIlflOql!M‘S3Jsdo.1dU05i545JS5J5JU!111!M.15
pspnuousqoOU!JES14sqlwsLpusssJdopsiinbsispooISdPIunMJ!DUIOD-ons3!IqnU4S455‘995C6133d515dOPONVIpsousissipisssipuo-u4s6o4‘6105‘isqws
JOSepsipu-U00:5SqBJS545455545EUiS65-UI]5144JO05L[UOII355HO‘.LHOdMPN‘±P3HIS-SIGV‘91NOLLD3SdOSUO!4OSOEU!SIJ5dOJU1-U!-dssiJbflOJipO55’9$
P5h!535isqsnw‘995t6SW!S136u!sSqSUOSJsdIV04OU!PJ030EJU5UIUOI5ASp3AflO!SPM955PSOOHPNI719V3PHIQJ737-lonpuoosqIISIJS5JS!0!J5JOWOE545U!JE5JS4U!
cj‘JJ0UM5N‘S’SHSSSOD5AI1S4U5S5JU5JIEUOSJSUISIIU5SOUs,54JsUoJdSUO-IHflODAINflODN700-7VHVd‘A7HHHIHON-usqW444S1445OIIOUSEP5flJOOEqqM.151445604

..

..:::

SDIIONflJ
iiiirAelSIJIASISIJNAesuqtasn))N)IYN3MMflA$8PJOMe71nAs:.1aPJoMr1IAAS4SPJOMe1flASiaPuO1gMeTh——nASp3oMeVSfl

xapuiAaswi(ade;Asp-aweN)alIweuSa:fiuigsalMaugiviIIispsQ40111*1stauweatuioo‘S[o3)sa.upuvus,,ieinwadn!IwnueliadnsLINI
asgVPa!.1n8:6u!piSoKasq

PSJS8:6upieogjiasiaqsospsoeIsJ5q5ssis,éiñoiAissaJaugoASeAS1WAAeslseAAesiAAeSSeASAAesi5jj
c_Auwku0n.,4j)APawoD’Le6I4a1vAIiwav*4[•tB).BIG*N1-O°S,,)Apeus3’o61)eGNuegaIth.4eMpaoiseiñFalBaNdiWi

27


	Planning Commission Regular Session Agenda
	2018-1953 - Draft PC Regular Session Minutes 10-14-19
	2018-1971 - Final Order and Findings
	2018-1713 - Final Order and Findings
	2018-1713 - Attachment L

